<u> </u>	 
	 ······································		 
			,
			· ·
			•
			·
			4
			·
			·
			-

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DAVE C. TERRY

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2010-SA-00980

OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR
MISSISSIPPI DIVISION OF MEDICAID

APPELLEE

# ON APPEAL FROM THE HINDS COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

# BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT (Oral Argument Not Requested)

### ATTORNEYS FOR THE APPELLEE

Christopher H. Neyland
MSB #
Neyland & Brewer, PLLC
188 E. Capitol Street, Suite 777
Jackson, MS 39201
Telephone: (601) 718-0929

Facsimile: (601) 949-3399

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DAVE C. TERRY

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2001-SA-00980

OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The Appellant was not afforded procedural due process in that his List of Witnesses was struck by the hearing officer as untimely filed, and the Circuit Court judge miscalculated the time in which the Appellant did file his List of Witnesses.
- 2. The evidence presented against Dave C. Terry at the hearing was not supported by substantial evidence
- 3. Terry's termination was in violation of 42 U.S.C. §2000e, et. seq., Title VII of the 1964 Civil Rights Act.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal arises from the Mississippi Employee Appeals Board sustaining the action taken by the Mississippi Division of Medicaid in terminating Dave C. Terry as an employee.

Dave C. Terry ("Terry") was a permanent employee of the State of Mississippi, employed as a Medicaid II Specialist with the Mississippi Division of Medicaid ("DOM"). On August 4, 2004, Terry received a letter from Robert Moody ("Moody"), the then Deputy Director of Administration of Medicaid, in which he was suspended without pay effective August 4, 2004, pending a termination hearing scheduled for August 18, 2004. (Record, page 10). Terry was cited for "Group Three Offense", in this particular instance a conviction for two misdemeanor offenses, stalking and simple assault, in the Rankin County Court. (Record, page 10).

On August 18, 2004, a termination hearing was held before the DOM's Deputy Director of Executive Service, Nycole Campbell-Lewis ("Ms. Lewis") (Record, page 10). Following the termination hearing, Ms. Lewis submitted a recommendation to Dr. Warren Jones, M.D. ("Dr. Jones"), Executive Director of Medicaid, to terminate Terry's employment. Dr. Jones terminated Terry's employment by letter on August 31, 2004. (Record, page 10). Terry timely filed a Notice of Appeal with the Mississippi Employee Appeals Board (the "EAB") on September 13, 2004. (Record, page 10). On October 15, 2004, a Notice of Hearing was filed, scheduling an appeal hearing for November 23, 2004. (Record, page 10). On November 22, 2004, Terry, through counsel, requested a continuance, which was granted by the hearing officer, Hon. Roosevelt Daniels, via Order on November 30, 2004. (Record, page 10). The appeal hearing was rescheduled for March 17, 2005. On March 16, 2005, Terry, through counsel, again requested a continuance, which was again granted. (Record, page 10).

Following the last request for continuance, Terry substituted counsel. The appeal hearing was rescheduled for May 12, 2005. (Record, page 10). On May 2, 2005, Terry, through counsel, filed his Petitioner's List of Witnesses, Request for Issuance of Subpoenas *ad testificandum* and Request for Issuance of Subpoenas *duces tecum*. (Record, page 10). On May 5, 2005, DOM filed its Motion to Strike Terry's List of Witnesses as untimely filed. (Record, page 11). On May 10, 2005, a telephonic hearing was held upon DOM's Motion to Strike. (Record, page 10 and Vol 2 of 3). The Hearing Officer, Hon. Roosevelt Daniels, granted DOM's motion and struck as untimely filed Terry's List of Witnesses and Requests for Subpoenas. Judge Daniels did not strike the subpoena *duces tecum* pertaining to Terry's personnel file. (Record, page 11).

On May 12, 2005, the appeal hearing was held. At the appeal hearing, the Hearing Officer struck DOM's Witness List as untimely filed, but allowed one of the witnesses on said list to testify. (Record, page 11). On May 20, 2005, the Hearing Officer filed his Opinion and Order, denying Terry's appeal and allowing the termination to stand. (Record, page 11). On May 26, 2005, Terry filed a Request for Review by Full Board. (Record, page 11). On October 12, 2005, the Mississippi Employee Appeals Board issued an Order affirming the action taken by the hearing officer. Terry filed both his Notice of Appeal of that decision and his Designation of the Record with the Hinds County Circuit Court on November 3, 2005. (Record, pages 2-5).

The Hinds County Circuit Court judge, the Honorable Tomie T. Green, issued a Memorandum Opinion and Order on September 8, 2008, denying the appeal and affirming the decision of the Mississippi Employee Appeals Board. This appeal was timely filed from that decision on October 7, 2008.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Dave C. Terry was not afforded procedural due process in his hearing before the Honorable Roosevelt Daniels, II, in that he was not allowed to call witnesses on his behalf due to the striking of his List of Witnesses as being untimely filed. There is nothing in the Mississippi State Employee Handbook which requires a List of Witnesses to be offered prior to an originally scheduled hearing, as opposed to a rescheduled hearing. The Division of Medicaid was allowed to call a witness from its List of Witnesses, even though its own List of Witnesses was deemed to be untimely filed. The decision to strike Terry's List of Witnesses was arbitrary, capricious, and completely denied him the opportunity to adequately present his case at the hearing. As such, this cause should be remanded back to the hearing officer and Terry should be allowed to call the witnesses from his List of Witnesses in his defense.

The evidence presented against Dave C. Terry at the hearing was not supported by substantial evidence. The introduction of a crime or crimes which had been expunged from his record prior to the hearing before Judge Daniels was violative of state law, and did not present substantial evidence meriting the termination of his employment. As such, the decision to terminate Terry was arbitrary and capricious, and should be overturned.

Dave Terry was terminated from his employment with the Division of Medicaid because he was a man working in an office primarily staffed with women. The use of Terry's sex as a factor in his termination violates Title VII of the 1964 Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. §2000, which prohibits the use of sex or gender in terminating an employee.

### **ARGUMENT**

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review governing an appeal from a decision of an administrative agency is that of substantial evidence. Walters v. Miss. Dep't of Econ. & Cmty. Dev., 768 So.2d 893, 895 (Miss. 2000) (citing Holloway v. Prassell Enters., Inc., 348 So.2d 771, 773 (Miss. 1977). Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 25-9-132 (Rev. 2003), the statutory scope of judicial review of an employee appeals board decision is:

- (2) The scope of review of the circuit court in such cases shall be limited to review of the record made before the employee appeals board or hearing officer to determine if the action of the employee appeals board is unlawful for the reason that it was:
  - a) Not supported by substantial evidence;
  - (b) Arbitrary or capricious; or
  - (c) In violation of some statutory or constitutional right of the employee.

These factors which govern the standard of review for agency decisions are the only grounds for overturning an agency's action; otherwise the agency's determination must remain undisturbed. Walters, 768 So.2d at 897; Miss. Dep't of Envtl. Quality v. Weems, 653 So.2d 266, 273 (Miss. 1995). "A rebuttable presumption exists in favor of the action of the agency, and the burden of proof is on the party challenging an agency's action." Publ. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Shurden, 822 So.2d 258, 263 (Miss. 2002); Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Dishmon, 797 So.2d 888, 893 (Miss. 2001). If an administrative agency's decision is not based on substantial evidence, this Court will find the decision to be arbitrary and capricious. Pub. Employees' Ret.

Sys. v. Marquez, 774 So.2d 421, 425 (Miss. 2000).

1. Terry was not afforded procedural due process in that his List of Witnesses was struck by the hearing officer as untimely filed, and the Circuit Court judge miscalculated the time in which the Appellant did file his List of Witnesses.

The Fourteenth Amendment forbids states from depriving an individual of life, liberty or property without due process. Due process requirements are not the same in every situation.

Rather, the amount of process required varies according to the circumstances of the deprivation.

In Mathews v Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 335 (1976), the three factors normally weighed in determining the required due process are the importance of the individual interests involved, the value of the specific procedural safeguards to that interest and the government interest in administrative efficiency. Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 335 (1976)

When a procedural due process claim is raised in a case, it must be evaluated using a two step process. Nichols v. City of Jackson, 848 F. Supp. 718, 720 (S.D. Miss.1994). "The first step requires the court to decide whether a protected life, liberty or property interest exists. The second step is a court determination of what process is required in the situation." *Id*.

The first step of the analysis is easily dealt with. A civil service employee, such as Terry, has a property interest in his employment, created by Mississippi Code Annotated Sections 21-31-21 and 21-31-23, which provide that civil service employees cannot be discharged except for cause. Burleson.v. Hancock Cty. Sheriff's Dept., 872 So.2d 43, (Ms. Ct. App. 2003).

The second step of the due process evaluation is what process is required in the situation.

In <u>Harris v. Mississippi Dept. of Corrections</u>, 831 So.2d 1105 (Miss. 2002), the Mississippi

		 	* ·	

Supreme Court held that even if the Mississippi Department of Corrections did not follow proper procedures in reviewing an employee's grievance, a full de novo hearing before a hearing officer of the Employee Appeals Board cured any deficiency, where the hearing officer allowed the employee to "put forth his own witnesses, cross-examine any witnesses put forth by MDOC, and to make his arguments before a judge." <u>Harris v. Mississippi Dept. of Corrections</u>, 831 So.2d 1105 (Miss. 2002).

As Terry was not allowed to put forth his own witnesses, he was not afforded procedural due process and the decision of the hearing officer, upheld by the Mississippi Employee Appeals Board and Circuit Court was in error.

In Flowers v. Mississippi Dept. Of Human Services, 764 So.2d 493 (Ms. Ct. App. 2000), the Mississippi Court of Appeals held that the aggrieved employee in that case was afforded due process in that she was given pre-termination written notice, with opportunity to attend a pre-termination conference and to bring with her any witnesses she felt would be helpful. Flowers v. Mississippi Dept. Of Human Services, 764 So.2d 493 (Ms. Ct. App. 2000).

Due process, therefore, must come before the hearing officer of the Employee Appeals

Board, to the extent that due process would require an aggrieved employee the opportunity to call
witnesses on his behalf. See, e.g., Mississippi State Dept. of Health v. Hogue, 801 So.2d 794

(Ms. Ct. App. 2001). In Hogue, the Mississippi Court of Appeals held as follows:

Hogue's due process rights in this procedure were not protected by the guarantee of a full-scale evidentiary proceeding prior to any disciplinary action. Rather, her right to due process, upon becoming dissatisfied with the disciplinary proceedings conducted by her employing agency, was to appeal the unfavorable decision to the Employee Appeals Board. It is there that Hogue was guaranteed a de novo proceeding, at which she would be "afforded

	<del>.</del> .	

all applicable safeguards of procedural due process" that specifically included the right to representation by counsel, the right to compel the presence of witnesses, and the right to have those witnesses' testimony taken under oath. Miss.Code Ann. § 25-9-131 (Rev. 1999).

Mississippi State Dept. of Health v. Hogue, 801 So.2d 794 (Ms. Ct. App. 2001) (my emphasis).

As has been established and as all parties herein agree, Terry's List of Witnesses was struck by Judge Daniels, and as such, Terry was not allowed to offer any witnesses on his behalf.

The relevant portion of the Mississippi State Employee Handbook states that:

Each party, no later than ten (10) calendar days prior to **the** hearing date, shall file with the Employee Appeals Board a list of witnesses such party will call to testify at the hearing.

Mississippi State Employee Handbook, Procedural Rule 10.7.14.

- ! -

There is nothing in the Mississippi State Employee Handbook which requires the witness list be filed ten days prior to the original hearing date. Any such rule would prejudice any aggrieved state employee who, for example, substituted counsel prior to the original hearing, requested a continuance, and then wanted to change strategy at the hearing, to include a list of witnesses, or additions to a list of witnesses.

Judge Daniels stated in his ruling granting the Motion to Strike Terry's List of Witnesses that it was the "practice" of the Employee Appeals Board to strike any witness list that was not filed ten days prior to the original hearing date. (Record, Volume 2, Transcript pages 24-25). There is no basis for this opinion or ruling. There is no published rule in the Mississippi State Employee Handbook requiring a witness list to be provided 10 days prior to an original hearing date, and there is no published rule stating that a witness list cannot be provided 10 days prior to any re-scheduled hearing. It simply does not exist.

	<u></u>	 

The decision to exclude Terry's List of Witnesses, which was timely filed as it relates to the May 12, 2005 hearing before Judge Daniels, was arbitrary and capricious, without any foundation in the rules governing appeals to the Employee Appeals Board, and as such deprived Dave C. Terry of his procedural due process rights. Further, Judge Green, in her Memorandum Opinion and Order, ruled that Terry has filed his witness list nine days prior to the May 12, 2005 hearing. (Record, page 14). However, the witness list was filed on May 2, 2005 (Record, page 10). Excluding the date it was filed, the witness list was filed 10 days prior to the May 12, 2005 hearing, not 9 days, as calculated by the Circuit Court judge.

- : -

As such, the Circuit Court judge erred in both calculating the time frame in which Terry's witness list was filed, as well as in following the hearing officer's decision to exclude the witness list based on an unpublished rule or "practice".

# 2. The evidence presented against Dave C. Terry at the hearing was not supported by substantial evidence

At the hearing, the only testimony that was allowed was that of Rachel Shinard, the agency representative of the Division of Medicaid. Ms. Shinard testified that Terry was terminated due to his Group III violation, i.e, the criminal conviction for a felony or misdemeanor while employed. However, she further testified that the reason Terry was terminated, when other alternatives existed, was because of "other offenses" in his personnel file. (Record, Volume 3 of 3, Transcript pages 13 and 14). However, nothing from Terry's personnel file was introduced into evidence at the hearing. Nothing regarding previous offenses was introduced into evidence at the hearing. In fact, Ms. Shinard testified at the hearing that she did not know why Terry was not suspended or demoted, stating when asked, "I don't know. You

- 5



would have to get that from the hearing officer and the Executive Director." (Record, Volume 3 of 3, pages 32-33).

Of course, the Executive Director was on Terry's Witness List, but Terry was not allowed to call him as a witness. Ms. Shinard did testify that the Division of Medicaid is supposed to impose discipline and increasing steps of severity when practical. (Record, Volume 3 of 3, pages 32-33)

Substantial evidence is such that would make any conclusion based on that evidence a reasonable one. Since the amount may be less than a preponderance, there might be substantial evidence to support one fact-finder's view, and the same record may provide substantial evidence to support the opposite view. <u>Day-Brite Lighting Div., Emerson Elec. Co. v.</u>

<u>Cummings</u>, 419 So.2d 211, 213 (Miss. 1982).

The evidence presented at the hearing came not from any of the individuals who decided to terminate the employment of Dave C. Terry, but from the person who typed the letter for the person who decided to terminate the employment of Terry. (Record, Volume 3, Transcript page 36-38). The testimony provided by Ms. Shinard falls well short of even a scintilla of "evidence" as to the reasons Terry was terminated by the Division of Medicaid. She cites "other offenses", but not what those offenses were, which denied Terry the ability to effectively cross-examine her on those issues. She testified that she had no idea why Terry was terminated as opposed to being handed a lesser punishment like suspension or demotion, even though, per her admission, the Division of Medicaid is supposed to utilize increasing steps of severity when disciplining an employee.

As such, the evidence presented against Terry was insufficient to justify his termination,

and as such, his termination was arbitrary and capricious.

3. Terry's termination was in violation of 42 U.S.C. §2000e, et. seq., Title VII of the 1964 Civil Rights Act.

42 U.S.C. 2000e-2, reads, in relevant part, as follows:

- (a) Employer practices
- 1. It shall be an unlawful employment practice for an employer -
- (1) to fail or refuse to hire or to discharge any individual, or otherwise to discriminate against any individual with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such individual's race, color, religion, sex, or national origin; or
- (2) to limit, segregate, or classify his employees or applicants for employment in any way which would deprive or tend to deprive any individual of employment opportunities or otherwise adversely affect his status as an employee, because of such individual's race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.

42 U.S.C. 2000e-2

Ms. Shinard testified during the hearing as follows:

- Q. As a Medicaid Specialist did he (Terry) work with the public?
- A. Yes. He worked directly with the Medicaid recipient and they are considered the public. He also worked in an office full of women.

(Record, Volume 3 of 3, Transcript page 15).

It is clear that Terry, as a male employee, was terminated, at least in part, due to the fact that he worked in an "office full of women". There is no reason for Ms. Shinard to volunteer this information unless it was a consideration in Terry's termination. As such, his termination violates a statutory right, i.e., the right not to be terminated or discharged because of one's sex, as

codified in 42 U.S.C. 2000e-2. The violation of a statutory right is sufficient to overturn the decision of the Mississippi Employee Appeals Board.

### CONCLUSION

Dave C. Terry was not afforded procedural due process. He was never allowed to call witnesses on his behalf. These witnesses were expected to testify as to how other similarly situated employees were treated by the Mississippi Division of Medicaid. These witnesses were expected to testify as to his job performance while employed at the Mississippi Division of Medicaid. These witnesses were expected to testify as to his general character. As the only witness who testified against Mr. Terry mentioned that he worked in an office full of women, it is possible that Mr. Terry's witnesses could have shed some light on why that fact was relevant to the Division of Medicaid in its decision to terminate Mr. Terry.

But as he was not allowed to present any witnesses, none of this expected testimony was ever presented on his behalf. And these witnesses were excluded because of a "practice" of the Mississippi Employee Appeals board, a "practice" which is not a published rule in the Mississippi State Employee Handbook and, in fact, does not exist. The Hinds County Circuit Court judge, the Honorable Tomie T. Green, miscalculated the number of days in which Terry did file his list of witnesses, stating in her Memorandum Opinion and Order that Terry filed his list of witnesses 9 days prior to the May 12, 2005 hearing, when in fact Terry filed his witness list 10 days prior to the May 12, 2005 hearing.

As Mr. Terry was not allowed to call witnesses on his behalf, he was denied due process and the ability to effectively defend himself before the Employee Appeals Board.

The evidence offered against Terry came not from a decision maker, but from the person who typed the letter for the decision maker. She testified to matters that were outside the scope of Terry's termination, and she admitted that she had no idea why alternative disciplinary actions

were not taken, adding that one would have to ask the Executive Director about that issue. The Executive Director was on Terry's witness list, but Terry was not allowed to call him as a witness.

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