IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DAVE C. TERRY

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2010-SA-00980

OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR MISSISSIPPI DIVISION OF MEDICAID

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE HINDS COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE (Oral Argument Not Requested)

ATTORNEYS FOR THE APPELLEE

Charles P. Quarterman MSB # Special Assistant Attorney General Chief Counsel for the Division of Medicaid

Nicole G. Litton MSB Special Assistant Attorney General Counsel for the Division of Medicaid

550 High Street Walter Sillers Building, Suite 1000 Jackson, MS 39201 Telephone: (601) 359-6814 Facsimile: (601) 949-9620

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

Hood points to nothing suggesting that our reversal of his criminal conviction would inexorably have led to his reinstatement with DWC. Hood's criminal conviction performed but an evidentiary function for the Employee Appeals Board. The underlying fraudulent conduct was the true grounds upon which the DWC discharged Hood. The criminal conviction served only to establish at the time that those grounds existed.

Id., at 269.

For the same reasons as this Court gave in *Hood*, the Order of Expungement was not intended to and cannot retroactively alter the facts upon which Medicaid's termination decision was made in August 2004. Like the DWC in *Hood*, Medicaid had sufficient justification *at the time of its decision* to terminate Terry because his criminal conviction proved that his conduct was a Group III offense meriting discharge. Medicaid should not be required to give an employee his job back because he completed his probation and got his record expunged.

2. TERRY'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WERE NOT VIOLATED IN THE EMPLOYEE APPEALS BOARD HEARING.

Terry argues that his due process rights were violated by the Hearing Officer's ruling that struck his Witness List and barred him from calling witnesses other than himself. The Hearing Officer struck *both* parties' witness lists---because Terry himself took advantage of the EAB rule he now claims is unfair. The first hearing date before the EAB Hearing Officer was set to commence on November 23, 2004 (Record, Volume 1, page 14). Nine days prior to that hearing date, Medicaid submitted its witness list (Record, Volume 2, page 5). Terry did not submit a witness list prior to that hearing date (Record, Volume 2, page 10, lines 10-11). On November 22, 2004, the day before the first hearing date, Terry requested and was granted a continuance (Record, Volume 1, page 12). The second hearing date was set for March 17, 2005 (Record, Volume 1, page 12). Terry did not submit a witness list prior to that hearing, Terry again requested and was granted a continuance (Record, Volume 1, page 12). A third hearing date was set for May 12, 2005 (Record, Volume

1, page 12). On *the ninth* day before this *third* hearing date, Terry submitted a witness list (Record, Volume 1, page 14). The Hearing Officer struck both Terry's witness list (Record, Vol. 2, p. 24, lines 22-25, p. 25, lines 1-6) and Medicaid's witness list (Record, Vol. 3, p. 6, line 25, and p. 7, line 1) as untimely filed. Each party was allowed to call one witness: Medicaid's representative, an official within the Personnel Department, was allowed to testify as to Medicaid's position. Terry was allowed to testify but declined to do so (Record, Volume 3, page 55).

Even should the Court find that Terry had the right to file his witness list before the third setting of the hearing, he still failed to timely file that list . The EAB Administrative Rules, Rule 14, required that each party file his or its witness list *no later than* ten calendar days prior to the hearing date. Terry filed his list on May 2, 2005, and the hearing was on May 12, 2005. The "no later than" language of that rule requires that one exclude May 2 (the date of filing), and includes May 11 (the day before the hearing) in the calculation, which shows that Terry filed his list within *nine* days before the hearing, and the filing was therefore not made in a timely manner. Therefore, Judge Green was correct in her calculation. (Record, Volume 1, page 14).

Neither party was denied due process by the Hearing Officer. Terry cannot be heard to complain of a due process violation when he used the same rule he complains of to strike Medicaid's testimony, the same treatment was accorded Medicaid as was given Terry, and Terry took no action to present his case or preserve the proffered testimony of any witnesses.

a) IT IS PROPER FOR A TRIBUNAL TO STRIKE WITNESSES AND EVIDENCE FOR VIOLATION OF PROCEDURAL RULES.

It cannot be a violation of Due Process for a hearing officer to strike evidence as untimely designated prior to the hearing. In every case, trial judges and hearing officers must make daily decisions to exclude or include witnesses and evidence. They are charged with the day-to-day management of myriad cases. Therefore, trial judges are accorded wide and considerable discretion in managing pre-trial processes, including discovery, scheduling orders and setting deadlines to assure orderly pre-trial preparation that will result in timely disposition of cases. *Bowie v. Montfort Jones Memorial Hospital*, 861 So.2d 1037, 1042 (Miss. 2003) (In medical malpractice action, Court upheld trial judge's entry of summary judgment against plaintiff, resulting from plaintiff's failure to timely designate expert witness). Similarly, it is routine for trial judges to exclude untimely filed witness lists and evidence. *City of Jackson v. Internal Engine Parts Group, Inc.*, 903 So.2d 60, 65 (Miss. 2005), *citing Busick v. St. John*, 856 So.2d 304, 319, 321 (Miss. 2003) (trial court was correct to exclude the testimony of city's newly added fact witnesses a year after due and within a week of trial). (*See also Hammers v. Hammers*, 890 So.2d 944, 956 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (trial court was not manifestly wrong in striking party's expert appraisal witness as untimely filed.)

1

Thus, when parties fail to comply with the orders of the trial judge, "they should be prepared to do so at their own peril." *Bowie*, at 1042. Even if the result is harsh, this Court will uphold a trial judge's ruling striking witnesses unless there is manifest error or abuse of discretion. *Ekornes-Duncan v. Rankin Medical Center*, 808 So.2d 955, 958, 959 (Miss. 2002) (trial court was correct in striking plaintiff's two expert witnesses untimely filed even if this ultimately led to summary judgment in favor of the hospital); *Richardson v. APAC-Mississippi, Inc.*, 631 So.2d 143, 146 (Miss. 1994), holding trial court was correct in striking plaintiff's three affidavits submitted after three continuances, which resulted in summary judgment for defendant).

If Terry's argument were the law, none of those cases would have been decided as they were by this Court or the Court of Appeals. To the contrary, however, it is obvious that it does not offend due process for the court or hearing officer to strike untimely designated testimony. In this case, Terry argues that the EAB's procedural rules do not clearly state that the witness list must be submitted ten days before the *first* setting of the hearing on the appeal. However, the Hearing Officer's interpretation of the rule is the only one which makes sense. In the EAB procedure, there is no "give and take" discovery. Instead, there is a *simultaneous* exchange of witness lists. Under Terry's view, he could get Medicaid's witness list, move for a continuance, and then submit his own witness list months later, giving him a "free look" at his opponent's case before framing his own. That is not the procedure contemplated by the EAB. The Hearing Officer's ruling made perfect sense, given a correct reading of the rules.

Moreover, Terry himself made use of the rule. He moved to strike Medicaid's witnesses, and The Hearing Officer granted his motion. Having profited from the rule applied by the Hearing Officer, Terry can hardly contend that the rule itself was unfair.

Terry cites *Flowers, supra,* in his Appellant's Brief to this Court (Appellant's Brief, page 7) for the proposition that Terry should have the right to call any witnesses he wants (apparently in contravention of the EAB Administrative Rules). The Court of Appeals noted that Ms. Flowers, a terminated employee, was given the rights of a pre-termination written notice, a pre-termination conference and to bring any witnesses she would find helpful to her EAB hearing. However, there was no evidence that Ms. Flowers failed to timely file her witness list. That fact distinguishes Terry's case from *Flowers* on that particular point.

For these reasons, the Hearing Officer's ruling striking Terry's witness did not violate his due process rights.

t

14

b) TERRY FAILED TO MAKE AN OFFER OF PROOF AS TO HIS WITNESSES. THEREFORE, HE WAIVED THE OBJECTION. HOWEVER, IF THE EXCLUSION OF TERRY'S WITNESS LIST WAS ERROR, THE RULING OF THE HEARING OFFICER WAS HARMLESS, AND NO SUBSTANTIAL RIGHT OF TERRY WAS AFFECTED.

In Judge Green's Memorandum Opinion and Order, she notes that "Mr. Terry provides no alleged testimony by witnesses on his proposed list that would exonerate him of the Group III-Rankin County convictions." (Record, Volume 1, page 14). Terry's counsel failed or refused to make any Offer of Proof of Terry's proposed witnesses, which means that Terry has no basis on which to argue that his due process rights were violated by the exclusion of the witness list. The Court of Appeals has ruled that:

When a trial court prevents the introduction of certain evidence, it is incumbent on the offering party to make a proffer of the potential testimony of the witness or the point is waived for appellate review.

<u>Redhead v. Entergy Mississippi, Inc., 828 So.2d 801, 808 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002), citing Lloyd v.</u> <u>State, 755 So.2d 12 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). See also Edwards v. State, 823 So.2d 1223, 1228 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).</u>

But in this case, the record is devoid of any offer of proof as to the substance of Terry's witnesses' testimony. No offer of proof was made in the telephonic hearing held on May 10, 2005. No offer of proof appears in the Hearing transcript of May 12, 2005. No continuing objection was made. Therefore, this Court has no substantive information upon which to base an opinion that the denial of these witnesses' testimonies prejudiced Terry. On this ground alone, this Court can reject Terry's due process argument.

In the alternative only, if the Court considers that there were a sufficient Offer of Proof, the next inquiry is whether or not Terry has proved that the error, if there be one in excluding these witnesses, makes a difference in the outcome of the case. Terry's chief theories of the case

i i

did not attempt to challenge the fact that he had been found guilty of those two Group III Offenses at the time of the termination of employment, nor did those theories assert that the expungement order predated Medicaid's termination of Terry's employment. Therefore, one can logically assume that none of Terry's witnesses would refute Medicaid's key reasons for termination. *Assuming arguendo* that the Hearing Officer's ruling to exclude Terry's witness list was error, it should be considered harmless error.

r

In *Harris v. Shields*, 568 So.2d 269, 272 (Miss. 1990), Plaintiff brought a malpractice suit against a dental surgeon for the death of a patient. The Court considered whether the trial court's exclusion of plaintiff's expert, which resulted in a directed verdict for the defendant, was error. The Court stated that:

The point is of importance for, even if we consider that the Court below erred and that it should have allowed Dr. Gerughty to express his opinion on causation, we may not reverse unless we find that this opinion augments plaintiff's proof such that plaintiff should probably survive a defense motion for a directed verdict. Otherwise, exclusion of . . .testimony may not be said to have 'affected. . .a substantial right of plaintiff. *Id.*

In *Harris*, the proffered testimony indicated that had the defendant taken the patient's blood pressure prior to administering the anesthetic, the patient would not have suffered a cerebral hemorrhage and died. The Court held that there was nothing in the proffer of the record that showed that had the defendant taken the patient's blood pressure as Dr. Gerughty suggested, that there was a reasonable probability that she would not have died. Thus, the verdict was affirmed. *Id*, at 274, 276.

Harris shows that the exclusion is harmless where the testimony would not have assisted the party offering it to prove the claim or defense. See also Haggerty v. Foster, 838 So.2d 948 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

Likewise, Miss. Code Ann. Section 25-9-132(3) provides:

No relief will be granted based upon the court's finding of harmless error by the board in complying with the procedural requirements of Sections 25-9-127 through 25-9-129; provided, however, in the event that there is a finding of prejudicial error in the proceedings, the cause may be remanded for a rehearing consistent with the findings of the court.

Considering the facts of this case and the authorities cited above, if any error occurred, it was harmless error and did not adversely affect any substantial right of Terry.

c) TERRY HIMSELF DID NOT TESTIFY.

Terry was offered the opportunity to testify at his hearing. He chose not to testify and rested his case without putting into evidence any document or giving any testimony whatsoever----not even the record of the expungement of his conviction or the circumstances of the underlying events that led to the conviction. Furthermore, even though he had Medicaid's personnel file, Terry's lawyer below did not use it to cross-examine Medicaid's witness, or to introduce it into evidence. He abdicated his case when he chose not to rebut the testimony of Medicaid's witness or Medicaid's exhibits placed into evidence. He should not now be allowed to appeal the consequences of his own decision taken at his hearing before the EAB.

3. THERE WAS NO CLAIM OF GENDER DISCRIMINATION IN THE EMPLOYEE APPEALS BOARD AND, IN ANY EVENT, THERE IS NO EVIDENCE OF GENDER DISCRIMINATION.

a) TERRY DID NOT CHALLENGE HIS DISMISSAL ON GROUNDS OF GENDER DISCRIMINATION AND CANNOT RAISE THE ISSUE FOR THE FIRST TIME ON THIS APPEAL.

In his brief to the Circuit Court, Terry, for the first time in this case, raised the issue of gender discrimination, alleging that he was terminated because he was a male. Pursuant to *Miss. Code Ann.* Section 25-9-132(2), the scope of review of the Circuit Court in EAB cases is limited to a review of the record made before the EAB or Hearing Officer to determine if the action of the EAB is unlawful. There is nothing in the record of this appeal, either at the EAB hearing or in the appeal to the full EAB, where Terry challenged his termination on grounds of gender discrimination. Neither the Hearing Officer nor the full EAB was presented with this issue and afforded the opportunity to decide it. Medicaid was not given any opportunity to rebut this charge. Terry's claim of gender discrimination is therefore barred under the plain terms of Section 25-9-132(2).

Terry actually denied that gender was relevant to the EAB hearing. In a pre-hearing conference on subpoenas for information from Medicaid, Hearing Officer Daniels asked Terry's counsel: "... and I'm not sure if sex or gender of the individual is important?" Terry's then-

In *Flowers v. Miss. Dept. of Human Services*, 764 So.2d 493, 495, 496 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000), the Court of Appeals was asked to consider whether the discipline imposed on a state employee was disproportionate to the offense; however, the employee had not challenged his discipline on that basis prior to the appeal. The Court of Appeals refused to consider this issue, noting that "the Supreme Court will not consider matters raised for the first time on appeal." *Id.*, at 495, *citing Triplett v. City of Vicksburg*, 758 So.2d 399 (Miss. 2000). The Court of Appeals explained that this rule is designed "to avoid finding that a trial judge erred when the matter was not presented to that court for decision." *Id.*, at 495, 496.

Similarly, in Young v. North Miss. Medical Center, 783 So.2d 661, 664 (Miss. 2001), this Court held that when a former nurse failed to plead in lower court the issues of constructive discharge and retaliation for reporting acts of co-workers, the Court would not hear or decide those issues on appeal. The Court affirmed the lower court's dismissal of his original claims. See also Hurns v. Miss. Dept. of Corrections, 878 So.2d 223, 226 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (the issue of reclassification of a prisoner's custody status had not been properly presented for administrative relief or presented to the trial court and therefore was procedurally barred on appeal.)

Terry gives no justification for failing to raise this argument in the proper manner. This Court should decline to consider the gender discrimination claim on the basis that it was untimely raised.

b) IN ANY EVENT, TERRY WAS DISCHARGED BECAUSE OF THE CRIMINAL CONVICTION—JUST BECAUSE "HE WORKED IN AN OFFICE FULL OF WOMEN" DOES NOT CONSTITUTE EVIDENCE THAT HIS GENDER WAS THE RATIONALE FOR HIS TERMINATION.

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